IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



FEB 15 1996

OLERK, SUPREME COURT

Offici Deputy Clock

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

CASE NO. 87,123

Petitioner,

v.

DANIEL McCARTHY, JR.,

Respondent.

District Court of Appeal 1st District - No. 94-3765

Dy j

REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY

SIL HTE FEB Na 1996 OLEFW. SUPPLEME COURT By . Chiler Deputy Cleri

G. MICHAEL BURNETT Florida Bar No. 0708232 CHRISTOPHER P. BOYD Florida Bar No. 950830 TAYLOR, DAY & RIO Barnett Center 50 N. Laura St., Ste. 3500 Jacksonville, FL 32202 (904) 356-0700 Attorneys for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the petitioner, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, will be referred to as "State Farm." The respondent, Daniel McCarthy, Jr., will be referred to as "McCarthy." The driver of the only vehicle involved in the accident at issue, Clyde Matthew Gallo, will be referred to as "Gallo." References to the record on appeal will be to the page(s) on which the reference appears, as follows: "(R. ____)". The terms "uninsured motorist" or "underinsured motorist" will be referred to herein as "UM."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Petitioner, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, appeals the decision of the First District Court of Appeal below which affirmed a final summary judgment entered on November 2, 1994 by the Honorable W. O. Beauchamp, Jr., Circuit Judge, Eighth Judicial Circuit, in and for Alachua County, Florida. (R. 124) In that final summary judgment, the trial court invalidated a provision in a State Farm uninsured motorist (UM) policy and declared that respondent, Daniel McCarthy, Jr., was entitled to UM coverage under an insurance policy insuring the motor vehicle he was riding in as a passenger at the time of a one car accident and under which he had already recovered liability benefits. (R. 124)

On September 13, 1992, McCarthy was riding as a passenger in a 1987 Toyota Camry owned and operated by Clyde Matthew Gallo when Gallo lost control of his automobile resulting in a single car accident injuring McCarthy. $(R. 63)^1$ On that date, Gallo had an insurance policy with State Farm on the Toyota Camry providing \$100,000 in bodily injury liability coverage and \$100,000 in UM coverage. (R. 63) McCarthy made a claim against Gallo and State Farm under the liability portion of the State Farm policy for the injuries he received in the accident based upon Gallo's negligence. (R. 64) The parties settled McCarthy's liability claim for the \$100,000 policy limits. (R. 2, 37, 64)

¹The parties stipulated to the facts and the authenticity of the State Farm policy attached to the "Stipulated Facts." (R. 63-91)

McCarthy claimed his damages exceeded the liability limits of the State Farm policy so that he was entitled to payments under the UM portion of the same insurance policy. (R. 64) State Farm denied that McCarthy was entitled to UM coverage based upon the following specific exclusion in the policy:

An **uninsured motor vehicle** does not include a land motor vehicle:

1. Insured under the liability coverage of this policy.

(R. 64) Since the motor vehicle in which McCarthy was riding as a passenger was insured under the liability coverage of the policy, it was State Farm's position that there was no UM coverage available to McCarthy.

State Farm filed a declaratory judgment action asking the trial court to declare that the State Farm policy insuring the vehicle involved in the one car accident did not provide UM coverage for McCarthy because of the above-referenced policy exclusion. (R. 1-34A) The trial court entered a final judgment on November 2, 1994 in favor of McCarthy ruling that he was entitled to UM coverage under the State Farm policy notwithstanding the policy provision excluding UM coverage under the same policy that provided liability coverage. (R. 124)

On November 14, 1994, State Farm filed a notice of appeal from the final summary judgment declaring that McCarthy was entitled to UM coverage. (R-127) On December 8, 1995, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's final summary judgment. The District Court held that its precedent mandated its decision and

cited its previous decision in <u>Warren v. Travelers Ins. Co.</u>, 650 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995).² However, the District Court certified to this Court the following question to be one of great public importance:

MAY AN INJURED PERSON WHO IS ENTITLED TO RECOVER BODILY INJURY LIABILITY BENEFITS, BUT WHOSE DAMAGES EXCEED THE POLICY LIMIT FOR LIABILITY COVERAGE, ALSO RECOVER UNDER THE SAME POLICY FOR UNINSURED MOTORIST BENEFITS, WHERE THE POLICY EXCLUDES THE INSURED VEHICLE FROM ITS DEFINITION OF "UNINSURED VEHICLE"?

Additionally, the District Court certified its decision herein to be in conflict with the Second District Court of Appeal's recent decision in <u>Bulone v. United States Automobile Assoc.</u>, 660 So. 2d 399 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

On January 4, 1996, State Farm filed with this Court a timely notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State Farm policy excludes from the definition of "uninsured motor vehicle" any motor vehicle which is "insured under the liability coverage of this policy." Thus, under the express language of the State Farm policy, McCarthy cannot recover UM benefits under the same policy which insured the car he was riding in as a passenger and under which he had already recovered liability benefits.

²The matter of <u>Travelers Ins. Co. and Phoenix Ins. Co. v.</u> <u>Warren</u>, Case No. 85,337 (Fla. 1996), is presently pending before this Court. Oral argument was held before this Court in <u>Warren</u> on January 5, 1996.

This Court held in <u>Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins.</u> <u>Co.</u>, 252 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 1971), that UM coverage is "statutorily intended to provide the reciprocal or mutual equivalent of automobile liability coverage prescribed by the financial responsibility law" so that if someone is <u>covered</u> under the liability portion of an automobile insurance policy, that person cannot be excluded from coverage under the UM portion of the policy. In the present case, McCarthy was <u>not</u> covered under the liability portion of the State Farm policy. Therefore, the provision of the State Farm policy which excludes McCarthy from UM coverage is not invalid and against public policy.

The District Court's previous opinions in <u>Warren</u> and <u>Traveler's Ins. Co. v. Chandler</u>, 569 So. 2d 1337 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), were improperly decided and should not control in the instant case. <u>Warren</u> and <u>Chandler</u> confused the concept of "coverage" under the liability portion of the policy with the concept of "recovery" under that portion of the policy. There are <u>no</u> facts in the written opinions in either of these cases which supports the conclusion that the plaintiffs therein were covered under the liability portion of the insurance policy. Instead, as in the present case with McCarthy, these plaintiffs merely recovered under the liability portion of the policy because of the driver's negligence.

To the extent <u>Warren</u> and <u>Chandler</u> suggest that the State Farm policy exclusion in the present case is invalid and contrary to Florida's UM statute, the decisions are in conflict with several of

this Court's decisions and district court decisions which have upheld the validity of the same UM policy exclusion here. The effect of the District Court's decision below essentially doubles the liability limits under State Farm's policy when no premium has been paid for it.

The facts before the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Bulone</u> are virtually identical to those now before this Court. The court in <u>Bulone</u> specifically held that the plaintiff therein was not covered by the liability policy at issue as a potential tortfeasor but he merely collected benefits under that coverage as a claimant. Therefore, the policy exclusion of UM benefits to the plaintiff in <u>Bulone</u> was not against public policy. The <u>Bulone</u> decision makes it clear that the State Farm policy at issue was not required to insure Gallo's vehicle both as an insured motor vehicle for the purposes of liability coverage to Gallo and as an uninsured motor vehicle for the purposes of UM coverage to an individual such as McCarthy, a class II claimant. State Farm respectfully urges this Court to adopt the rationale and holding set forth in <u>Bulone</u> and reverse the District Court's decisions in <u>Warren</u> and <u>Chandler</u>.

ARGUMENT

I. STATE FARM'S POLICY PROVISION WHICH EXCLUDES FROM THE DEFINITION OF "UNINSURED MOTOR VEHICLE" ANY MOTOR VEHICLE "INSURED UNDER THE LIABILITY COVERAGE OF THE POLICY" SHOULD BE GIVEN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT THUS DISALLOWING MCCARTHY FROM RECOVERING BOTH LIABILITY AND UNINSURED MOTORIST BENEFITS UNDER THE SAME STATE FARM POLICY IN THE SINGLE CAR ACCIDENT IN THIS MATTER.

Under the facts before the Court, the District Court erroneously held that McCarthy is entitled to collect UM benefits under the State Farm policy issued to Gallo. The State Farm policy contains the following exclusion from UM coverage:

An **uninsured motor vehicle** does not include a land motor vehicle:

1. Insured under the liability coverage of this policy

Page 13 of the State Farm policy attached to the "Stipulated Facts." (R. 63-91) This exclusion applies in the present case because Gallo's vehicle was a land motor vehicle insured under the liability coverage of the State Farm policy. (R. 63). The above exclusion prevents a vehicle insured under the liability portion of the State Farm policy from being both an insured vehicle and an uninsured or underinsured vehicle under the same State Farm policy. Thus, Gallo's automobile is excluded from the definition of "uninsured motor vehicle" under the express language of the policy unless the policy provision is against public policy or contrary to Florida's UM statute.

Section 627.727, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992), the UM statute in effect at the time of the accident, required an insurer to offer

UM coverage to those insured under the liability portion of a motor vehicle liability insurance policy:

627.727 Motor Vehicle insurance; uninsured and underinsured vehicle coverage: insolvent insurer protection.

(1) <u>No motor vehicle liability insurance</u> policy which provides bodily injury liability coverage shall be delivered or issued for delivery in this state with respect to any specifically insured or identified motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in this state unless uninsured motor vehicle coverage is provided therein or supplemental thereto for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness, or diseases including death, resulting therefrom....

(emphasis added).

In <u>Mullis</u>, 252 So. 2d at 229, this Court dealt with the validity of exclusions from UM coverage in the face of the UM statute found at Section 627.0851, Florida Statutes (now Section 627.727):

In sum, our holding is that uninsured motorist coverage prescribed by §627.0851 is statutorily intended to provide the reciprocal or mutual equivalent of automobile liability prescribed by the financial coverage responsibility law, i.e., to say coverage uninsured motorist negligently where an inflicts bodily injury upon <u>a named insured</u>, or any of his family relatives resident in his household, or any lawful occupant of the insured automobile covered in his automobile liability policy. To achieve this purpose, no policy exclusions contrary to the statute of any of the <u>class of family insureds</u> are permissible since uninsured motorist coverage is intended by the statute to be uniform and standard motor vehicle accident liability insurance for the protection of such insureds thereunder as "if the uninsured motorist had

carried the minimum limits" of an automobile liability policy.

Id. at 237-238 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

<u>Mullis</u> shows that there are two basic principles to be applied in determining the validity of a policy provision that excludes UM coverage:

> First, uninsured motorist coverage is statutorily required to be provided for all persons who are insured under a policy for basic liability coverage.... Second, exclusions from uninsured motorist coverage which is required under the foregoing first principle are legally impermissible.

<u>Auto Owner's Ins. Co. v. Bennett</u>, 466 So. 2d 242, 243 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (citations omitted). "[T]he persons for whom uninsured motorist coverage [is] required to be provided [are] persons who [are] covered under the liability provisions of the automobile policy." <u>Valiant Ins. Co. v. Webster</u>, 567 So. 2d 408, 410 (Fla. 1990).

Thus, the question to be decided in determining whether the UM exclusion in the State Farm policy is valid is whether McCarthy is entitled to basic liability coverage under Gallo's policy. <u>Bennett</u>, 466 So. 2d at 244. If McCarthy is not entitled to basic liability coverage for the accident in question under <u>that</u> policy, then under <u>Mullis</u> and its progeny McCarthy can be excluded from UM coverage under <u>that</u> policy.

The State Farm policy defines an "insured" under the liability portion of the policy in the following way:

Who is an insured?

When we refer to **your car**, a **newly acquired car**, or a **temporary substitute car**, an insured means:

- 1. You;
- 2. Your spouse;
- 3. The **relatives** of the first **person** named in the declarations;
- Any other person while using such a car if its use is within the scope of consent of you or your spouse;
- 5. Any other **person** or organization liable for the use of such **car** by one of the above insureds.

Page 6 of the State Farm policy (R. 63-91) (highlighting in policy).³ The State Farm policy in question was issued to Gallo and insured his 1987 Toyota Camry. (R. 63) As stipulated by both parties, McCarthy was occupying Gallo's automobile as a passenger and McCarthy was not related to Gallo by blood, marriage, or adoption. (R. 63). Additionally, McCarthy cannot be considered a person using the insured's car within the scope of consent of the insured or the insured's spouse since McCarthy was not driving, and McCarthy was not responsible for the use of the car by Gallo at the time of the accident. Instead, McCarthy was occupying the insured automobile merely as a passenger. Therefore, McCarthy is not an insured under the liability portion of the State Farm policy because he is neither a named insured, named insured's spouse, resident relative, nor was he using the car or responsible for its

³"You" or "your" is defined in the policy to mean "the named insured or the named insured shown on the declarations page." Page 4 of the State Farm policy. "Spouse" is defined to mean "your husband or wife while living with you." Page 3 of the State Farm policy. Finally, "relative" is defined as "a **person** related to you or your spouse by blood, marriage or adoption...who lives with you." Page 3 of the State Farm policy.

use. Since McCarthy is not entitled to basic liability coverage under the State Farm policy for the accident in question, Section 627.727 does not require the policy to extend UM coverage to him and exclusions applicable to McCarthy are not contrary to statute or against public policy.

McCarthy was entitled to <u>recover</u>, and did <u>recover</u>, under Gallo's bodily injury liability policy since Gallo was driving the car which allegedly caused his injuries. (R. 63). However, Gallo (and not McCarthy) was the "insured"--the one "<u>covered</u>"--under the liability section of the policy, and McCarthy, as the injured passenger, recovered damages under Gallo's liability policy. However, under the facts of this case, McCarthy is not also entitled to UM benefits because of State Farm's valid exclusion limiting the definition of "uninsured motor vehicle" to exclude vehicles insured under the liability portions of the same State Farm policy.

The trial court ruled that this case was governed by <u>Chandler</u>, 569 So. 2d at 1337. The facts included in the <u>Chandler</u> opinion are similar to the facts in the present case. Chandler was a passenger in a car owned by Williams. Williams had a policy of insurance with Traveler's that provided both bodily injury liability coverage and UM coverage. <u>Id</u>. at 1338. Williams was driving the insured car which was involved in a one car accident resulting in damages to Chandler exceeding the liability limits for Williams' insurance policy with Traveler's. <u>Id</u>. Traveler's paid Chandler the limits under Williams' bodily injury liability policy. <u>Id</u>.

Traveler's argued that Chandler was not entitled to UM benefits because its policy excluded as an uninsured motor vehicle "your (the insured's) car," defined in part as "any vehicle described on the declarations page of this policy." <u>Id</u>. at 1339 n. 3. Relying upon <u>Mullis</u>, the First District found this exclusion to be invalid and unenforceable because the injured person--Chandler-was "covered" under the bodily injury liability provisions of the policy:

> In the instant case, Chandler was indisputably covered under the BIL [Bodily Injury Liability] provisions of the policy, <u>in that</u> <u>he received \$240,000 in such benefits</u>. Therefore, in accordance with <u>Mullis</u>, any attempt to bar him from UM coverage would be contrary to public policy.

<u>Id</u>. (emphasis added). The First District concluded that "exclusions to UM coverage are not enforceable if the injured person is covered by the BIL provisions of the policy." <u>Id</u>. (citations omitted).

The First District, however, incorrectly reasoned that Chandler was "covered" under the bodily injury liability provisions of the policy because he received \$240,000 in such benefits under the liability policy. <u>Id</u>. This fact did <u>not</u> make Chandler "covered" under the liability portion of the Traveler's policy. Williams, the driver and owner of the car, was the insured under the bodily injury liability portion of the policy and the one who was "covered" under the liability portion. Chandler was able to "recover" from Traveler's under the policy because Williams, the insured, was the negligent driver who caused the accident.

"Recovering" under the liability portion of a policy is not the same as being "covered" under the same policy.

There may be facts in the <u>Chandler</u> case which place Chandler under the bodily injury liability provisions of the policy, but the opinion is silent as to those facts. Based upon either the misapplication of the law or additional facts making Chandler "covered" under the liability portions of the policy, <u>Chandler</u> should not control the present case on the issue of the validity of the UM provision in the State Farm policy. In McCarthy's case, he was not "covered" under the bodily injury liability provisions of Gallo's insurance policy with State Farm.

In affirming the decision of the trial court in the present case, the First District relied upon its previous decision in <u>Warren</u>. <u>Warren</u>, 650 So. 2d at 1082. The facts in <u>Warren</u>, for the purposes of the issues presented therein, were indistinguishable from the facts in the <u>Chandler</u> case. Therefore, the First District in <u>Warren</u> held that its decision was controlled by <u>Chandler</u>. <u>Warren</u>, 650 So. 2d. at 1083.

The decisions in <u>Warren</u> and <u>Chandler</u> appear to be in conflict with, or at least inconsistent with, this Court's decisions in <u>Reid</u> <u>v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co.</u>, 352 So. 2d 1172 (Fla. 1977), <u>Brixius v. Allstate Ins. Co.</u>, 589 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 1991), and <u>Smith v. Valley Forge Ins. Co.</u>, 591 So. 2d 926 (Fla. 1992). In these cases, this Court found no public policy considerations which invalidated UM exclusions similar to the one contained in Gallo's

State Farm policy when the claimant was a class I⁴, named insured involved in a single car accident. All three cases demonstrate that Florida courts have consistently upheld the principle that a motor vehicle cannot be insured and uninsured under the same insurance policy.⁵

In <u>Reid</u>, this Court specifically upheld the exclusion under the State Farm policy that an "uninsured motor vehicle" may not be the same vehicle defined in the policy as the insured motor Reid. 352 So. 2d at 1173. The plaintiff in Reid was a vehicle. passenger in an automobile in which she was insured as a member of the named insured's family or household. State Farm denied liability when the passenger plaintiff sued the driver, relying upon a provision in the policy that the insurance does not apply to bodily injury to any insured or any member of the family of an insured residing in the same household as the insured. Id. at 1172-1173. Because Reid could not recover under the State Farm policy liability provisions, she argued that the automobile was uninsured. <u>Id</u>. at 1173.

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