IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

CASE NO.: 87,123

vs.

District Court of Appeal 1st District - No.94-3765

DANIEL MCCARTHY, JR.,

Respondent.

FILED
SIDE WHITE
APR 8 1996

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT
By

ONE Dooley dienk

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

JACK M. ROSS, P.A.
Post Office Box 1168
Gainesville, Florida 32602
(904) 375-1000
Florida Bar No. 296759

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The very clear policy of this State is that Uninsured Motorist ("UM") benefits should be available to compensate a victim for damages which exceed the amount of liability coverage available. Coverage is not to be whittled away by exclusions and exceptions. Automobile Ins. Co. of Hartford v. Beem, 469 So.2d 138 (Fla. 3rd That is the exact situation in which McCarthy finds DCA 1985). himself. Yet, even though it has collected premiums for UM coverage, State Farms seeks to avoid payment of benefits to McCarthy solely because he was a passenger in the underinsured vehicle. State Farm offers no policy justification, and there is no policy justification, for allowing State Farm to treat McCarthy differently than any other insured just because the driver of the car in which he was riding is the underinsured driver whose negligence caused his injury.

In order to avoid payment of benefits to which McCarthy is entitled, State Farm asks this Court to desert the two core principles applicable to uninsured motorist ("UM") coverage adopted twenty five years ago in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971) and consistently followed ever since. The two principles adopted in Mullis are: 1) UM coverage is required to be provided for all persons who are insured under the policy for liability coverage, and 2) Exclusions from UM coverage which is required under the first principle are legally impermissible. For over a quarter century this Court has never wavered from those principles. State Farm offers no policy

justification for the Court to abandon its established principles in this case. Instead it seeks to mask its inability to justify its attempted UM exclusion by a coerced reading of the language of the policy and misanalysis of prior decisions of this Court.

State Farm's suggestion that McCarthy was not an insured under the liability coverage of the policy requires a ridiculous reading of the policy language. The policy provides liability coverage for all who are "using such a car if its use is within the scope of consent of you or your spouse." (underlining added; bold in original). That a passenger, such as McCarthy, is using the car is obvious from the clear meaning of the English language and is supported by every Florida case which has addressed the issue.

Cases decided by this Court which uphold a UM exclusion when receipt of UM benefits would nullify a valid liability exclusion are not applicable. In those cases this Court recognized a very important policy consideration requiring that the UM exclusion be upheld: the preservation of a valid liability exclusion. No such justification exists in this case. There is no liability exclusion to preserve. Yet, State Farm asks this Court to approve, for the very first time, a UM exclusion which denies benefits to a person who is insured under the liability coverage when to do so would not nullify a liability exclusion. The Court should reject such a request.

It should be kept in mind that to affirm the District Court would not require an insurer to provide UM and liability benefits to all passengers. A carrier is entitled to exclude a passenger

from those who are insured under the liability coverage. If it does so, it could exclude the passenger from UM benefits as well. In this case State Farm, by the very clear language of its policy, insured McCarthy under the liability provisions of the policy, and, therefore, its attempt to exclude UM coverage is invalid under very clear, long standing, and oft repeated principles set forth by this Court.

ARGUMENT

I. INTRODUCTION

Insurers are required to provide UM coverage because it is the very clear policy of the State that UM benefits be available to compensate injured parties for damages in excess of the liability coverage available. Coverage is not to be whittled away by exclusions and exceptions. Automobile Ins. Co. of Hartford v. Beem, 469 So.2d 138 (3rd DCA 1985); Ellsworth v. Insurance Co. of North America, 508 So.2d 395 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); Ch. 89-243, Laws of Florida. McCarthy falls squarely within the purposes for which the coverage is required. Yet, without any attempt to justify the exclusion, State Farm seeks to deny McCarthy benefits solely because the underinsured automobile which caused his injury was the vehicle in which he was riding. There is no rational basis for such an exclusion.

State Farm's exclusion violates the core principles of Uninsured Motorist coverage which were adopted by this Court more than twenty five years ago and which have formed the basis for every decision on UM coverage since that time. In 1971, in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 252 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 1971) the Court set forth two core principles applicable to UM coverage: 1) UM coverage is required to be provided for all persons who are insured under the policy for liability coverage, and 2) Exclusions from UM coverage which is required under the first principle are legally impermissible. Auto Owner's Ins. Co. v. Bennett, 466 So. 2d 242 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984). Since McCarthy was

insured under the liability coverage of the policy, the First District was correct to hold State Farm's attempted UM exclusion is impermissible.

II. McCARTHY WAS COVERED UNDER THE LIABILITY COVERAGE OF GALLO'S POLICY.

A. INTRODUCTION

State Farm was not required to provide liability coverage for McCarthy. However, under its insurance contract State Farm did provide, and collected a premium for, liability coverage for McCarthy. Therefore, under the holding of Mullis, State Farm must provide UM coverage to McCarthy and the attempted exclusion of UM coverage for McCarthy is invalid. State Farm seeks to avoid this well settled rule of law by a forced reading of the language of the policy.

The clear language of the policy provides that McCarthy is an insured under the liability portion of the policy. An insured is defined by the policy to include:

4. any other person while using such a car if its use is within the scope of consent of you or your spouse; (bold in the policy, underlining added).

It was stipulated that McCarthy was a passenger in the car at the time of the injury. State Farm tries to avoid its statutory responsibility by the claim that "use" means "drive." Since McCarthy was not "driving the car," State Farm argues, he was not "using" the car and, therefore, was not an insured under the liability coverage. This argument is contrary to all previously

decided cases, established rules governing interpretation of insurance policies, and the common use of the English language, or as State Farm would say the common "drive" of the English language.

B. ALL PRECEDENT HOLDS THAT BEING A PASSENGER CONSTITUTES USE OF AN AUTOMOBILE

That being a passenger constitutes "use" of a car has been recognized by every appellate decision of this state that has considered the matter in interpreting an automobile policy. The Third District addressed this very question in Valdes v. Smalley, 303 So.2d 342 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974). In that case Smalley was driving a car insured by National Ben Franklin Ins. Co. and Reserve Ins. Co. His passenger, Spradley, was insured under an auto policy written by Millers Casualty Co. Spradley and Smalley were involved in an altercation with a group which began pelting Smalley's car with rocks. As Smalley drove past the group at a speed of about 40 mph, Spradley, the passenger, threw a glass beer mug toward the crowd. The mug struck Miguel Valdes, whose father brought suit for negligence.

All three insurance companies sought, and obtained, summary judgment in the trial court on the grounds that the policies did not provide coverage because the injury did not arise "out of the ownership, maintenance or use" of the automobile. The Third District reversed the summary judgment for the insurance companies holding that the accident "originated from and was causally connected with the use of the automobile," <u>Id</u>. at 345, and that the passenger's act of throwing a mug from the automobile could not be

said to bear no substantial or direct relation to the use of the automobile. 1

The Third District Court of Appeal also held in National Indemnity Co. v. Corbo, 248 So.2d 238 (3rd DCA 1971), that "use" of an automobile is broader than driving an automobile. In that case the owners' son was using their car to transport a German Shepherd watchdog. The son stopped at a drug store and left the plaintiff, a passenger, and the dog in the car where the dog bit the plaintiff.

When plaintiff brought suit the auto insurer, National Indemnity, sought summary judgement claiming that the injury did not arise out of the "use of the automobile." The trial court denied National Indemnity's motion for summary judgment and the Court of Appeal affirmed. The Third District held that "'Use' extends to any activity involved in the utilization of the covered vehicle in the manner intended or contemplated by the insured." Id. at 240. Clearly use of the vehicle as a passenger was intended and contemplated by Gallo.

In addition, when interpreting the word "use" in the PIP portion of the same policy, numerous cases have held that the term is substantially broader than the term "drive." In <u>U.S.F.&G. v.</u>

This Court has held cases which hold that being a passenger does not constitute use of a vehicle for purposes of interpreting an exclusion in a homeowner's policy, West American Insurance Co. v. Silverman, 378 So.2d 28 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Thomas, 273 So.2d 117 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973), are not applicable to decisions considering the extent of coverage under an automobile policy. National Ben Franklin Ins. Co. v. Valdes, 341 So.2d 975 (Fla. 1977).

Daly, 384 So.2d 1350 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), plaintiff, a passenger in the back of a pickup truck, was injured when he was blown from the truck by a heavy wind. Affirming the award of PIP benefits the Court of Appeal stated, "There is no question that the injury arose out of the use of the pickup truck...." Id. at 1350. See also, GEICO v. Novak, 453 So.2d 1116 (Fla. 1984) (Use of automobile includes being shot while occupant of a parked auto); Protective National Ins. Co. of Omaha v. Bergouignan, 335 So.2d 871 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1976) (Passenger entitled to PIP benefits). It makes no sense to suggest the word "use" means only "drive" in one portion of the policy but includes use as a passenger in another portion of the same policy

C. THE PRIMARY RULE OF CONTRACTUAL INTERPRETATION ESTABLISHES THAT MCCARTHY WAS INSURED UNDER THE LIABILITY PORTIONS OF THE STATE FARM POLICY

The first rule of contractual interpretation is that words should be given their plain meaning. Texas Trailer Corp. v. McIlwain, 579 So.2d 237 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); Gibbs vs. Air Canada, 810 F.2d 1529 (11th Cir. 1987). This is particularly true of interpretation of insurance policies which are statutorily required to be "readable." Fla. Stat., 627.4145. One need not be trained in the law to recognize that the word "use" is substantially broader than the word "drive" and to use a car encompasses many more activities than to drive a car. Use as a passenger is as much a use of the vehicle as driving the car. Indeed, the passenger can be the primary user of the vehicle with the driver driving only to

accommodate the passenger's use.

D. COMMON USAGE OF THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE REVEALS THAT A PASSENGER USES AN AUTOMOBILE

One does not require legal authority to understand that riding as a passenger constitutes use of a car. Common usage of the English language reveals that a passenger uses a car for transportation as much as the driver. Webster's New Collegiate <u>Dictionary</u> defines "use" as, "to put into action or service: avail oneself of: EMPLOY." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, Revised Fourth Edition, defines "use" as, "To make use of, to convert to one's service, to avail one's self of, to employ." There can be no doubt that Mccarthy made use of the vehicle, availed himself of its service, and/or employed the vehicle. McCarthy used the vehicle. As one who used the vehicle with Gallo's permission he is insured under the liability provisions of the policy and the attempt to exclude him from UM coverage under the policy is impermissible under Mullis.

III. THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IS CONSISTENT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN REID, BRIXIUS, AND SMITH V. VALLEY FORGE

State Farm incorrectly attempts to rely on this Court's prior decisions in Reid v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co., 352 So.2d 1172 (Fla. 1977); Brixius v. Allstate Insurance Co., 589 So.2d 236 (Fla. 1991); and Smith v. Valley Forge Ins. Co., 591 So.2d 926 (Fla. 1992). In each of those cases there was a valid policy

reason to allow the UM exclusion. All of those cases allow an exclusion to UM coverage only when the failure to do so would invalidate a valid liability exclusion. As accurately pointed out by the First District in Warren v. Travelers Ins. Co., 650 So.2d 10082, 1082 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), "[T]hese cases support only the narrower proposition that, where a valid policy exclusion bars recover of liability benefits (and the policy excludes the insured vehicle from the definition of an uninsured vehicle), an injured person can not claim that the vehicle is uninsured as to herself so as to recover uninsured motorist benefits in lieu of liability benefits."

The First District's analysis is correct. While Reid, Brixius, and Valley Forge address policy provisions similar to the provision in this policy, they do so under factual situations in which to invalidate the exclusion would nullify a valid liability exclusion. Each of the opinions is specifically limited to the facts presented and expressly states that the basis of the ruling is to avoid the nullification of a valid liability exclusion.

In <u>Reid</u> the Court addressed a case in which the Plaintiff could not obtain liability benefits because of the family-household exclusion to the liability coverage. She sought to avoid this exclusion by claiming the exclusion rendered the automobile an uninsured vehicle as to her. This Court specifically limited its acceptance of the UM exclusion to the narrow facts of the case.

"We recognize, as a general rule, that an insurer may not limit the applicability of uninsured motorist protection...on the other

hand, we say that the particular restriction on uninsured motorist coverage <u>in the present case</u> is not against public policy and is not void. To hold otherwise <u>in this case</u> would completely nullify the family-household exclusion." <u>Id</u>. at 1173-1174 (emphasis added).

Both <u>Brixius</u> and <u>Smith v. Valley Forge</u> involved factual situations in which to invalidate the exclusion would nullify a valid liability exclusion. In upholding the exclusion, both cases explicitly relied on the reasoning of <u>Reid</u> that to do otherwise would nullify a valid liability exclusion. In <u>Valley Forge</u> this Court expressly quoted its decision in <u>Reid</u>, "[T]o hold otherwise in this case would completely nullify the family-household exclusion." <u>Smith v. Valley Forge</u> at 927, quoting <u>Reid</u> at 1174. The <u>Brixius</u> Court also expressly relied on the rationale in <u>Reid</u> that to void the exclusion would nullify a valid liability exclusion. "Even the <u>Jernigan</u> court recognized the viability of <u>Reid</u> in a situation where allowing recovery of uninsured motorist benefits would defeat a valid liability exclusion contained in the same policy." <u>Brixius</u> at 238.

Consider again the policy of the state that UM coverage be available to compensate the injured for damages above the available liability limits and that the insurance company may exclude that coverage only in rare circumstances. In Reid, Brixius, and Valley Forge this Court found that preservation of a valid liability exclusion was a sufficient justification for the exclusion under the facts of those case. That justification is not present under the facts of this case. There is no liability exclusion to be

nullified. State Farm offers no additional policy reasons which would justify the exclusion it seeks to enforce contrary to twenty five years of jurisprudence. Therefore, the decision of the First District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

III. THIS COURT SHOULD DISAPPROVE THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN BULONE.²

The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Bulone</u>

<u>V. United States Automobile Association</u>, 660 So. 2d 399 (Fla. 2nd

DCA 1995) is faulty in two regards. First, requiring UM coverage

under the facts of this case does not prevent the insurer from

issuing a policy which validly excludes a passenger from UM

coverage if desired by the customer. Secondly, the fact that the

policy provides greater benefits to guest passengers than members

of the insured's family, which appeared to concern the Second

District, is quite common.

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